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Adelaide is the perfect place to set a horror story. You know why all those films and books are always set in sleepy, con servative towns? Because sleepy, conservative towns are where those things happen. Exorcism, omens, shining, poltergeists. Adelaide is Amityville, or Salem, and things here go bump in the night.


Salman Rushdie
Adelaide Writers’ Week, 1984








Introduction



Churches and Graveyards


The victim was in the Royal Adelaide Hospital fighting for his life. He’d been stabbed in the chest with a letter opener, puncturing his heart and collapsing one lung. The man, newly paroled from prison, was not expected to live. His alleged assailant had been arrested for attempted murder and conveyed to the Port Adelaide Magistrates Court. In a press release, South Australia Police made it clear the charge would be upgraded to murder if the man died.


Reporters from Adelaide’s media outlets had taken over the front row of the court’s public gallery. While they waited to see the accused – Robert Leaver, also a recent parolee – they passed the time with idle chatter. The journalists discussed the more obvious motives for the vicious attack: revenge for an incident in jail, drug debts or simple bad blood.


When two guards led Leaver into the dock half an hour later, he immediately commanded the room’s attention. Not because of his crime or odd appearance – the completely shaved head, the blue star-shaped tattoos on his earlobes – not even because of his pungent body odour, inescapable in the hideous heat of January 2003. All eyes were fixed on Robert Leaver because of his attire. The gnome-like man was dressed in a white plastic jumpsuit, the sort worn by crime scene examiners. The outfit could mean one of only two things. Either Leaver’s clothes had been seized as evidence upon his arrest or – more tantalisingly – the 37-year-old had been apprehended while nude.


Blair Tremaine, Leaver’s lawyer, asked the court to indefinitely delay his client’s arraignment. ‘Your Honour,’ he said, ‘I would like to ask that my client be released on bail. I can tell Your Honour the charges will be contested, and we have a strong case for self-defence.’


Magistrate Roseanne McInnes was incredulous. ‘Mr Tremaine, a man is in hospital with significant, life-threatening wounds inflicted with a letter opener,’ she said. ‘He may yet die. Your client was allegedly found standing over the wounded man while naked, still clutching the weapon. How can you possibly say this is a case of self-defence?’


Before Mr Tremaine could answer, his client opened his mouth – displaying a gap where his four front teeth should have been – and spoke for himself.


‘I knew [the man] in prison, Your Honour,’ he lisped. ‘We were cellmates, and he used to grab me by the ears and force me to perform oral sex. He turned up at my place last night and I thought he’d try it again, so I stabbed the fucker.’


Embarrassed, Mr Tremaine hid his face in his hands. The public gallery exploded with laughter. Ms McInnes, busy fighting to retain her composure, did not censure the mirth; Leaver, for his part, stared uncomprehendingly at the hilarity he had caused.


Though he was eventually acquitted, Leaver’s story is the quintessential Adelaide case – odd, violent and disturbing. And, if you believe the myth, South Australia’s capital city is the nation’s home of murder. Scanning the internet or chatting in an east coast pub will provide you with reams of so-called evidence dubbing Adelaide ‘murder town’, the place with more serial killers per capita than anywhere else in the world. So deep runs the idea that it transcends borders. A 2008 commercial for the US television series Dexter shows the titular serial killer waiting to board a flight to the southern city. The message: Adelaide is Dexter’s kind of town.


It is a good myth, an interesting myth, but one that is wrong and easily dispelled. Since 1989, South Australia’s murder rate has remained stable at 1.7 deaths per 100,000 people. You have far more chance of being hit by a car – the road toll reached 119 in 2009 – than you do of meeting your end via a deranged predator. With an average of just 25 homicides per year, Adelaide’s killers cannot compare with their peers in New South Wales and Queensland. Thanks to an incredibly dedicated and efficient police department, more than 95 per cent of those crimes are solved. And, while Adelaide murders are indisputably grotesque, they are no worse than the New South Wales woman who stabbed her boyfriend to death on Christmas Day 2009, then invited her friends around to feast on the body.


The truth is inescapable: Adelaide is not, and never has been, ‘murder town’. The false legend, the erroneous myth, is no more than a convenient peg for naysayers to hang their hats upon. The worst thing about the ‘murder town’ fallacy is that it obscures the truth: all of Adelaide’s crime is far worse – more twisted, more perverse, more sick – than you could possibly believe. From a simple petrol station robbery to the most Byzantine white-collar fraud, every South Australian crime is tinged with the hideously bizarre. Consequently, there is no shortage of examples.


In February 2008, Frederick Walkuski kidnapped his former lover, Donna Pridham, from her car. Leaving Ms Pridham’s toddler son alone in the back seat, Walkuski forced the object of his affection into another vehicle and sped away. In any other city, Ms Pridham would have been taken to an abandoned warehouse or garden shed, blindfolded and chained to a chair. But in Adelaide, kidnappers do things differently. Walkuski drove his beloved to an isolated shack, miles from the nearest town, and led her gently inside. He had filled the tiny dwelling with Ms Pridham’s favourite food and DVDs, as well as clothing he had bought in her size. He planned for them to spend the rest of their lives together, sequestered in his ‘love shack’. It was a scene straight out of a James Patterson novel and yet there it was, in real life, on the plains of Adelaide.


Three months later, John Martin Cheney faced the District Court for collecting child pornography. His already abhorrent crime grew more twisted because it happened in Adelaide. As Cheney’s lawyers explained, their client had ‘accidentally fallen into’ his interest in child pornography while searching for naked pictures of actress Angelina Jolie. Further, he had only begun his quest for digital flesh because he was depressed, had been drinking too much and had recently had an operation on his genitals, leaving him with ‘too much time on his hands’.


Cheney’s fellow deviant, Samuel Paul Healy, claimed to use his free time more constructively. As a teenager, he developed a sexual fascination for pre-pubescent girls – he believed they could not fall pregnant. He put his theory to the test by abducting a five-year-old girl from her suburban home, taking her to a nearby oval and sexually assaulting her. Healy would do the same again the following year – this time in Byron Bay, New South Wales – before he was caught. By the time he faced court, he said he had ‘cured himself’ of his paedophilia. In his spare time between rape and arrest, he had taken part-time work in a day care centre. By interacting with children, he believed he had learned to control his urges.


Uncontrolled lust was also Benjamin Ainsworth’s problem. An aspiring actor and would-be rapper, Ainsworth was best known for a bit part on the television series McLeod’s Daughters. Once off the set, Ainsworth grabbed women off the streets and dragged them to secluded areas for enforced, kinky sex. Because his victims survived their bondage nightmares, Ainsworth fled to the United States, hoping to escape arrest and land a recording contract. He was caught and returned home, and a psychological report concluded – unsurprisingly – he suffered from narcissism. Rape, according to the diagnosis, was Ainsworth’s way of giving his self-esteem a little boost. ‘Having consensual sex,’ he had told his doctor, ‘is like buying a new car. Both get boring over time.’


Celebrity was on the mind of another of Adelaide’s twisted citizens. Depending on when you met him – and how much money you had – the concrete pumper would introduce himself as either Romeo Pacifico or Richard Sambora. The former was his real name, the latter an identity he stole from his idol, the guitarist for rock band Bon Jovi. In either identity, Pacifico was a consummate fraudster who swindled more than $25 million from banks and businesses. The money funded an extravagant lifestyle of luxury cars and top-of-the-line building equipment before his crimes were detected. In an absurd twist, the real Richard Sambora had to retain lawyers in Adelaide to represent him until the courts were satisfied he had no involvement in the scam.


Absurdity also surrounded the case of Andre Parenzee. He had unprotected sex with three women despite knowing he was HIV positive. Convicted of three counts of endangering life, Parenzee’s case was the first of its kind in South Australia. It paved the way for changes to the law, leading to other reckless sex fiends facing jail for their conduct. Determined to overturn his conviction, Parenzee lodged an audacious appeal. In the face of decades of research, he claimed HIV could not be transmitted through sex and he was therefore innocent. Shockingly, he won the support of an actual scientific body. The Perth Group, a maverick think-tank, sent its top spokesperson to testify on Parenzee’s behalf. Elini Papadopulos-Eleopulos told the Supreme Court that science had never conclusively linked HIV with AIDS. This galvanised the world’s top immunity experts – they gathered in Adelaide to give evidence against Parenzee, fearful a successful appeal would set sex education back 20 years and put thousands of people at risk. Their efforts were successful, and Parenzee remained in jail. Only in Adelaide could a single crime pose such immense danger to humanity.


And while Adelaide does not corner the market on bizarre murder, its wholesale slaughters are among the most gruesome in the nation. John Justin Bunting and Robert Joe Wagner murdered almost a dozen people in the ‘bodies in the barrels’ case. Eight bodies were found in a disused bank vault in the country hamlet of Snowtown, two in a suburban backyard, one in a regional area and one in the Adelaide Hills. Styling themselves as paedophile-killing vigilantes, the duo tortured their victims using handcuffs, pliers, sparklers and an electric shock machine. They even played music – Throwing Copper by the band Live – as they experimented with cannibalism.


Along with the Truro Killings – the murders of eight young women in the 1970s – and the Family Murders – the sex killings of five young men in the 1980s – the ‘bodies in the barrels’ are the best known of all South Australian crimes. Yet for all the international attention it garnered, Bunting and Wagner’s atrocities were just typical Adelaide crimes. More people fell victim to the same kind of repulsive, unforgivable impulses that sparked dozens of other murders in the city’s history. Those cases did not grab interstate headlines like Bunting and Wagner, but were just as depraved.


June Busson, for example, grew murderously tired of her cancer-stricken husband, Dennis. In December 2003, her need for affection drove her into the arms of another man. Though happy with James Slade, she felt she would never be truly free until Dennis was dead. And so, one month after the affair began, Busson and her lover stood over the ill man and commenced what prosecutors called ‘a vicious attack of the most dreadful kind’. That night, in the bedroom he’d shared with his wife, Dennis sustained 80 injuries – 56 of them stab wounds – at the hands of the new lovers. Just days later, as police investigated the crime, Busson and Slade moved into that same room together and continued their love tryst. Each is now serving a life sentence.


In jail, Busson has likely encountered Julie Michelle Dunn – a woman with whom she has much in common. Dunn had tired of her partner, too. Desperate for ‘some time to herself’, Dunn fixed Graham Wilks his favourite snack – a curried egg sandwich – laced with seven tablets of the sedative temazepam. Utterly fatigued, Wilks fell asleep and, mercifully, did not feel the torrent of blows Dunn rained down upon his head. Wilks died and Dunn was found guilty of murder.


The undisputed queen of Adelaide’s killers, though, is Michelle Burgess. Her weapon was not a blade or a gun, but her body. She used it to cultivate multiple lovers, then played them off against each other to get what she wanted. In 2000, what she wanted was Kevin Matthews all to herself. He felt the same way – meaning his wife, Carolyn, had to go. Burgess arranged for her other paramour, David Key, to carry out the hit under her supervision. She watched as her puppet stabbed Carolyn in her own home, all the while shouting ‘kill her, be a man, show me you love me’. The murder was a success but the cover-up was not. Burgess, Matthews and Key all went to jail for their hideous crime. Undaunted, Burgess seduced a male prison guard to ensure her time in custody was as comfortable and sexually charged as possible. The woman knows how to get what she wants.


The evidence is clear: Adelaide is far worse than a mere ‘murder town’ could ever be. In a murder town, you would only have to worry about being killed by a crazed deviant. In Adelaide, you have to worry about the crazed deviants not only killing you, but robbing you, raping you, kidnapping you, stealing your sons, sexually assaulting your daughters, murdering your wives and poisoning your curried egg sandwiches.


What is it about Adelaide that creates such monsters? When considering the history of the place, it becomes apparent South Australia has always been a fertile breeding ground for disordered minds. One of the driving forces behind the creation of Adelaide was British politician Edward Gibbon Wakefield. His revolutionary idea was to settle the colony not with convicts, but with free men. His much-publicised belief was that Britain’s social problems had been caused by overcrowding, making emigration an essential ‘safety valve’ for Mother England. By 1831, Wakefield had fine-tuned his colonisation plan and was the toast of London. To this day, his influence is remembered in Adelaide through the streets, statues and institutions that bear his name.


Wakefield was a visionary – a man who had clearly given a great deal of thought to devising the best method of colonisation. What history forgets is that he was afforded this time not in smoking rooms, university lectures or libraries, but in the depths of London’s prisons. Months before grabbing the headlines with his colonisation ideas, Wakefield finished a three-year sentence for kidnapping a 15-year-old girl. In 1826, he had conspired with his brother to abduct Ellen Turner, a rich manufacturer’s daughter who caught his eye. Wakefield lured the girl into his trap by way of a false letter, warning Miss Turner her mother was gravely ill. Once the teenager was in his clutches, Wakefield took her to Scotland and demanded she marry him, saying it was the only way to spare her family financial ruin.


Obsessed with power and influence, an utterly shameless Wakefield wrote to his new father-in-law and demanded his financial support. He was sure the man would acquiesce to his demands rather than risk a public scandal. Imagine his surprise when constables caught up to the newlyweds at Calais and clapped him in irons. His trial – the biggest sensation of 1827 – ended with Wakefield and his brother jailed and the marriage annulled by a special act of Parliament.


A driving force behind the creation of Adelaide, then, was a duplicitous, power-hungry, greedy kidnapper. With a guiding hand like that, it’s not hard to see from where the darker side of Adelaide sprung. Wakefield’s choice of free settlers only worsened matters. He tirelessly hawked his new colony to two groups: religious dissenters and social progressives. The first, burned by their dealings with the Catholic and Protestant faiths, wanted a place to pursue their beliefs in privacy and without persecution. They brought with them a natural inclination toward secrecy, and the unwillingness to judge others. The progressives, meanwhile, believed the basic concepts of human nature and morality were not fixed and should be reviewed based on scientific advances. In other words, they carried a certain permissiveness and willingness to experiment with them to the new shores.


Once combined, these vastly disparate values did great good in South Australia. It became a land of tolerance, the first place in the world to grant women the right to vote, and a bastion of religious thought. But every light cast by the City of Churches created a shadow – within which darker, more perverse thoughts festered. In a land where experimentation was encouraged, where secrets were to be kept, where judgement was slow to pass, deviant mindsets developed unhindered and spread without condemnation. Over time, this underbelly became attractive to more people with monstrous thoughts, and a new group of émigrés arrived. It is no coincidence that John Justin Bunting – born in Queensland – and Jean Eric Gassy – from Sydney – found notoriety in Adelaide.


Secrecy is a defining aspect of South Australia. Those who resist the flow are smacked down harshly, as Harold Salisbury discovered. By 1972, he had served London’s Metropolitan Police Division and other law enforcement divisions for 40 years. He was South Australian Premier Don Dunstan’s top choice for police commissioner, a role Salisbury accepted after two weeks of closed-door negotiations.


It was an odd choice, given Dunstan’s politics. The Labor leader fancied his state to be Australia’s social laboratory. He lowered the legal drinking age to 18 and removed public drunkenness from police blotters. Dunstan legalised homosexuality, sex shops and nude beaches. In keeping with Wakefield’s ideals of social progressivism, the Premier sought to make Adelaide a more freethinking place. Why he chose Salisbury – a Freemason, a war veteran, a veritable figurehead of the old regime – to head up the police will forever be a mystery.


Salisbury was beloved by his charges. A reformist in his own right, he introduced the dog squad, Aboriginal language lessons for officers and air-conditioning in patrol cars. He was also very interested in keeping a close eye on the movers and shakers in his new patch. The extent of this became clear in 1977, when The Australian newspaper revealed the existence of the Police Special Branch.


A small, covert arm of Salisbury’s forces, the branch had an open-ended remit to gather intelligence on the people of South Australia. That information was, in turn, passed on to ASIO and other national security institutions. The Australian wanted to know why Dunstan, the ‘architect of the modern Athens’, had allowed such cloak-and-dagger work to go on under his nose.


The Premier could not countenance such an embarrassment. Salisbury and his team had broken the rules of Adelaide by asking what went on behind all that progressivism. An inquiry concluded the Special Branch investigated people ‘on the unreasoned assumption’ that anyone who ‘thought or acted less conservatively’ than they posed ‘potential danger to the security of the nation’. Further, held the authorities, the files contained information that was ‘inaccurate, and sometimes scandalously inaccurate’ about high-ranking members of Parliament and important members of the community.


Salisbury was asked to resign. He refused, saying his duty was to ‘the crown, not any politically elected government, or to any politician, or to anyone else for that matter’. Dunstan arranged for him to be fired on 17 January 1977, telling no one but his staffers and The Advertiser newspaper. When the news was published on the morning of 18 January there was widespread public outcry – but a Royal Commission vindicated Dunstan’s actions. The Special Branch was disbanded and its files burned, under heavy guard, in a cemetery crematorium.


The twisted incident wore heavily on both men. Dunstan stepped down in February 1979, blaming poor health. Salisbury stayed in Adelaide until May of that year and then retired to his homeland. Neither was eager to speak on the matter – as I learned, first-hand, in 1996.


I was 16 years old and had been watching a Supreme Court trial – my interest in the justice system started early. To my surprise, I found myself sharing an elevator with Dunstan and a dark-suited minder. It was fortuitous timing, for my Year 12 thesis was on the Salisbury affair. What better opportunity would there be to speak to a living, breathing primary source?


‘Mr Dunstan,’ I said, extending my hand, ‘I’m an Australian history student writing a project on the dismissal of Commissioner Harold Salisbury. Would you mind me asking you a few questions?’


Dunstan’s expression did not change. He made no move to take my hand. Instead, his minder reached out and pushed a button so the elevator would stop at the next floor. ‘You’re getting off here, kid,’ he barked as the doors opened. Given his massive size, I didn’t argue.


Almost 20 years on, and the former Premier of South Australia was more prepared to menace a teenager with a bad haircut than talk about his past. I was absolutely staggered. Over time, I’ve learned to be less surprised.


Once again: secrecy is a defining part of South Australia. The courts provide daily reminders in the form of suppression orders – media gags that inhibit the public’s right to see justice done. Every judge, lawyer and journalist in the state knows the provisions of Section 69A of the Evidence Act (1938) by heart. The section permits judges to prevent the publication of any material that could ‘prejudice the proper administration of justice’ or ‘cause undue hardship’. Such broad parameters make suppression applications difficult to resist. In the Snowtown case alone, the courts made 220 orders – some of which remain in force to this day. Gags were slapped on Robert Joe Wagner’s adoration of Hitler, the name of his dog – Adolf – and the colour of the barrels used to store the victims. The large volume of orders was far from unusual. The courts made 204 suppressions in 2004, 211 in 2005 and 216 in 2006. Some of those orders were double-headers; the banned information was topped with a second one, preventing discussion of the reasons for the ban.


In 2007, the Labor Government re-wrote the Evidence Act. The amendments limited the scope of suppression orders and granted the media greater rights to oppose them. Judges are now required to consider ‘the public interest, and the news media’s subsequent right to publish’ before pulling down the blinds. The change was dramatic – just 90 suppression orders were made in 2008 – but also catastrophic.


Robbed of their blindfolds, the more secrecy-minded litigators found other ways to obscure their work. They used other sections of the Act to clear courtrooms before ‘dangerous’ submissions were made – a judicial discretion the media has no right to oppose. Some would spontaneously declare open court sessions to be ‘directions hearings’, meaning they were confidential and could not be reported. And the few suppression orders that were made were of questionable value. In March 2010, a court banned publication of the identity of a man accused of killing his wife. It believed publication would prejudice police line-ups and other identification techniques. The gag was nonsense as – on the police version of events – the alleged murder occurred in front of 100 members of their local community, all of whom knew the man personally.


At times, the South Australian community breaks free of its mindset and questions the horrors that occur every day. As younger, fresher minds step into the public arena, they ask – in conversation, on talkback radio, over the internet – what the authorities are doing to protect them. They want to know why the hard work of police amounts to nothing in court; why a paedophile, a child pornographer, a killer receives so light a sentence. They call for harsher penalties, for those in power to cage the monsters.


Their pleas fall on deaf ears. According to the state’s top judge, he and his peers are not personally accountable to the public. In 2007, Supreme Court Chief Justice John Doyle said those behind the bench are above such concerns. ‘A lack of personal accountability is the price you pay for a fair and impartial judicial system,’ he said. ‘We must be independent of the community’s view. If you want a system where judges are personally accountable, you might say: “go to China”.’


Clichés persist because they contain some truth: evil will flourish whenever good men do nothing. When no one asks questions, or when those in power do not listen, shadows form in the City of Churches. Within those shadows breeds more perversion, more monstrous thought. Adelaide is stripped of its progressive, welcoming veneer and revealed for what it is – a City of Evil. The vicious cycle that started with Edward Gibbon Wakefield spins around again.








A Remorseless Betrayal



Casagrande and McGuinness


She was used to the pain of heroin withdrawal, that was nothing new. She’d grappled with the ravenous, gnawing drug hunger most of her life. This unfamiliar pain was unbearable. It was the sting of conscience, deep in her soul, and it refused to die down. It was Remembrance Day 2001, and Donna Lee Casagrande could no longer forget the sins she had committed.


Distressed and dishevelled, the junkie staggered into a police station in Redfern, New South Wales, and said she wanted to talk about a murder. Homicide detectives Robert Allison and Malcolm Lanyon led the blonde prostitute into an interview room and started its recorders. For more than an hour they listened as Casagrande spoke – alternately hysterical and chillingly calm – of slapping, torturing, smother ing and stabbing a man to death.


The victim, Casagrande said, was a truck-driving pro-wrestler transvestite. Her accomplice was her lesbian lover and fellow prostitute. Remorse crept into her tone as she spoke of the victim’s immense weight; his corpse was too heavy, she explained, to load into his own four-wheel drive for disposal. And so the women had hacked the cadaver to pieces, de-fleshed each segment and buried the body fat in the victim’s beloved strawberry patch. Loading the torso pieces into a car, the lovers dumped them at several different locations, pausing only to drop the cross-dresser’s head and arms in a rubbish bin and set them on fire. Having finished her sickening tale, Casagrande glared hungrily at the detectives. ‘All I want is my methadone,’ she said.


Though her confession had been made in New South Wales, the Detectives Allison and Lanyon were in no doubt Casagrande could only have committed such a heinous killing in Adelaide.
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The life and death of John ‘Joanne’ Lillecrapp was, on the surface, bizarre and surreal – perfect tabloid fodder. No newspaper editor alive could resist a headline like ‘Lesbian Prostitutes Decapitate and Dismember Transvestite Pro-wrestling Truck Driver’. Beneath it all, however, the tale is even sadder than it is twisted. The undoubtedly horrific, inexcusable crime centred on one lonely man’s desire for friendship and acceptance.


In 1993, Lillecrapp moved into a house on Norton St, Angle Park, a suburb west of Adelaide. Like the western suburbs of Melbourne, it is an area that has long been home to Asian families and refugees from African nations. Violence is common, as is the death of young people in high-speed car accidents. ‘It’s best to keep to yourself around here,’ one resident said in 2001. ‘You keep out of trouble that way.’


Initially the locals called him ‘Tex’ because he wore large cowboy hats. Soon they got to see the woman behind the man – Lillecrapp had taken up cross-dressing two years before his arrival. One would think that he would have experienced enormous difficulties with his neighbours, but nothing could be further from the truth. He felt most comfortable when surrounded by his peers at the Parks Community Centre, just a few kilometres from his home. He considered them part of his extended family and volunteered many hours of his time driving the centre’s free bus service. The African, Vietnamese and Indian communities looked to him for advice, help and support. He entertained them by taking part in professional wrestling bouts, playing both the hero and villain for the crowd’s benefit. Above all else, he insisted everyone call him Joanne.


‘He wasn’t your average bloke,’ Lillecrapp’s brother, Ron, conceded in 2003, ‘but he helped the community and he was a worthwhile member of the community. If anyone needed help, he would be there … The people at the Parks Community Centre thought the world of him … he found a place to belong there, something that was missing from other areas and times in his life. And while I wasn’t always close to John, if something were to happen I would have been there for him – that’s what brothers are for.’


A photograph of Lillecrapp taken on the night of his brother’s 1994 wedding sums the man up well. His dark wig and make-up are immaculately applied, his legs are swathed in stockings and his wrists and neck adorned with simple gold jewellery. In a plain white top, dark green miniskirt, stiletto heels and colourful jacket, Joanne Lillecrapp is the sort of 50-year-old woman one would pass in the street without a second glance.


But looking the part and being tacitly accepted by his neighbours was not enough. Lillecrapp felt his life was one of solitude, and he went further and further afield seeking what he felt would be true acceptance – the understanding of those like him, who shared his outlook and beliefs. During a trip to Sydney in 1996, he met Casagrande.


Born in Addington Hospital, New South Wales, in 1970, Casagrande was the youngest of nine children. Her father was a foreman at a sheet metal factory; her mother worked until she lost a hand in an industrial accident and moved to home duties full-time. In reports later tendered before the Supreme Court Casagrande claimed she was repeatedly abused – first by her father, then by the men for whom she worked as a prostitute. She came to the sex industry after leaving school in Year 9 and moving unsuccessfully through jobs as a waitress, process worker and factory hand. Two abusive marriages brought forth two children – son Joshua and daughter Talia – who remained with their fathers. One of those men, she often claimed, would beat her senseless with a baseball bat and kick her in the head. Drug addiction and abuse was the defining factor of her life, ruining any chance of stability and taking a vicious toll on her long-term health. In particular, Casagrande struggled with heart valve problems and seizures.


Big-hearted, generous and full of empathy for a fellow ‘lost soul’, Lillecrapp opened his home to Casagrande, vowing to aid her rehabilitation. It was a decision that did not sit well with his family – especially when, during a visit with Ron and his wife, Lindsay, Casagrande retired to their driveway to shoot up heroin. ‘That was Joanne’s downfall, after that,’ Lindsay said in 2003. ‘We were worried about him, but he wanted to live his life the way he did. We tried to advise him but he was a man of 50 – you can’t tell anyone of that age how to live their life.’


Ron said his ‘slightly naive’ brother truly believed he could help Casagrande kick her habits. ‘He was a cross-dresser, that was the lifestyle he chose and that was his prerogative,’ he said. ‘He was a big sort of a bloke but he was a sucker, he was gullible. He was lonely and eager to befriend just about anyone. He wanted to help Casagrande – that’s what he was like. He probably went about it the wrong way but, if that’s the case, I don’t know what the right way is.’


Much later, Casagrande introduced her would-be benefactor to her lesbian lover – Nicole Therese Courcier McGuinness. The women had been in a relationship for three years – Casagrande would travel between McGuinness’s various residences and Lillecrapp’s home as her finances allowed. The couple had similarly unfortunate backgrounds. McGuinness’s father left her family when she was three, exposing her to a stepfather who routinely abused her mother. McGuinness herself fell victim to rape at the age of 15. She spent her life, according to defence lawyers, ‘either witnessing violence or being a victim of violence’. She turned to drugs, they explained, to ‘blot out the past and the present’.


Lindsay said the duo took advantage of her brother-in-law. ‘They seduced him into believing he had friends and that people accepted him and wanted to be around him. We thought it would end in theft, that they’d rip him off – but we never dreamed it would end like it did. We thought we could see what was coming and we knew it was going to be terrible, but not to the extent it was.’


For a time, the trio lived together in Lillecrapp’s home. He set up a bank account for the women, keeping the PIN a secret. That way, he reasoned, Casagrande’s and McGuinness’s spending would be vetted by him, ensuring they could not get money for drugs. It was a simplistic, overly optimistic plan that was doomed to failure from the outset. Lillecrapp had no experience with addiction, no concept of how cunning a junkie could become to satisfy their need for drugs. His possessions and belongings began to go missing; McGuinness and Casagrande seemed to have drugs in their room more and more often. On their visits to his family, the women became threatening and began to demand money. For Ron and Lindsay, it was the final straw.


‘He was vulnerable, and she poisoned his mind,’ Ron said of Casagrande. ‘She also stole a lot of things from him, including a video camera. They said they would trash our place if we didn’t give them money. The history, from then on, I do not know about because we could not allow this to happen in our home, so we had to distance ourselves from him.’


Little is known of the final 18 months of Lillecrapp’s life. He continued to drive trucks, volunteer for bus runs and wear dresses. He remained a regular sight around the Parks and checked in sporadically with his community-centre friends. Neighbours remember him working in his garden, and that his strawberry patch was a point of pride. Unless he was actively volunteering, however, Lillecrapp kept to himself and spent his time at home with Casagrande and McGuinness. Occasionally, rumours would surface that he was ‘pimping out’ his houseguests, forcing them back into prostitution to pay their way. Such claims always lacked the facts to support them. In truth, the women would travel between Adelaide and Sydney as they could afford, most often to see Casagrande’s children.


In November 2001, South Australian police received word that Lillecrapp was missing. Days later, they became aware Casagrande and McGuinness were gone as well. Concerns began to mount, and came to a head on 9 November, when an anonymous caller told triple-zero operators that ‘someone might be dead’ at the Norton St house. Forensics investigators and Major Crime Investigations Branch detectives moved quickly. What they discovered was among the grisliest, most gruesome finds in the state’s criminal history. Human remains had been buried in the strawberry patch but they were not whole. Officers found body fat, flesh and chunks of torso between and beneath the fruit. The deceased had been butchered, either before or after he was killed, and the offal left behind.


On 13 November, police confirmed the remains belonged to Lillecrapp. They continued the search for the rest of his body, and appealed for help finding Casagrande and McGuinness. They spoke of extending the search interstate, and of working with police in Sydney to locate ‘persons of interest’. What they were not prepared to reveal, however, was that Casagrande had already turned herself in at Redfern and confessed.


Casagrande’s arrest was announced on 15 November, and she was extradited to Adelaide by order of the Parramatta Court. A newspaper photographer caught a brief glimpse of the alleged killer as she was taken away from Adelaide Airport on 17 November. Looking drawn and weak, dressed in a tank top and striped tracksuit pants, Casagrande cowered behind a police officer’s jacket and wept. She was held in the City Watch House until 19 November, when she made her first appearance in the Adelaide Magistrates Court. She had been, by this time, given new clothes to wear – jeans, running shoes and a long jacket. She cast an unsteady eye toward the media cameramen who filmed her arrival, and had to be physically led into the courtroom by a sheriff’s officer. She was remanded in custody.


One day later, McGuinness was arrested. Police released few details of her apprehension and the public found out little more when she appeared in court on 21 November. At the request of prosecutors, Magistrate Alfio Grasso slapped suppression orders on the images of both defendants – banning the media from showing their faces to a confused public. At the time, no one outside the investigating team had any clue why Lillecrapp had been murdered – including his family.


‘I can’t assume the remains are him,’ Ron told reporters in 2001. ‘Obviously, I hope he is still alive. The thing that really hurts me is how someone can do it. They are either cold, callous and brutal, or flying high as a kite on drugs.’


His hopes were dashed on 30 November of that year. Lillecrapp’s head and arms were found, burned almost beyond recognition, in a drum at Wingfield dump. Not only had he been butchered, he had been dismembered and decapitated. Coincidentally, the macabre discovery was made just 200 metres away from where teams were excavating for the remains of another murder victim – Japanese schoolgirl Megumi Suzuki, who was killed by escalating rapist Mark Errin Rust. It was a hideous happenstance that further reinforced Adelaide’s reputation as the nexus of Australia’s bizarrely malicious crime.


The drum had been discovered by an employee of a concreting and restoration business. The man would never be the same again. ‘I wished it had never been found there,’ he blanched, visibly distressed. ‘We just found it there, it had nothing to do with us. We just called the police and they took it away.’


Casagrande’s and McGuinness’s appearances in court became sporadic. They did not face the Supreme Court until October 2002, at which time both pleaded not guilty to murder. Six months later – in April 2003 – they fronted the court once more. This time McGuinness announced she was changing her plea, and would confess to murdering Lillecrapp. Casagrande continued to protest her innocence.


On 3 June 2003, a near-hysterical Casagrande was brought before Justice John Perry. She began weeping the moment she entered the courtroom, and mouthed messages to friends and supporters sitting in the public gallery. Her composure, however, returned instantly when she was addressed by Justice Perry. The renowned and much-beloved judge and educator, who was nearing mandatory retirement, asked the woman how she intended to plead to the charge against her.


‘Not guilty to murder,’ Casagrande replied, wiping away her tears, ‘but guilty to manslaughter.’


Craig Caldicott, for Casagrande, told the court the months of silence had been put to good use. He said that, by the next hearing date, he would have psychiatric reports about his client. Having worked closely with prosecutors, he would also be in a position to tender a statement of agreed facts – the basis upon which Casagrande was to be sentenced.


Justice Perry was appreciative. ‘I’m still looking for a clear understanding of the motive and circumstances around the killing,’ he said, echoing the thoughts of many in the public gallery. ‘I also want to know what part each of them – Casagrande and McGuinness – played. Quite often that’s what these things come down to – which part each of them played, and what they say about the role the other played. I intend to deal with both of them strictly together and hear submissions on the same day.’


That scheduled hearing date – 1 July 2003 – would see an end to the mystery surrounding Joanne Lillecrapp’s death. In a rare move for a South Australian judge, Justice Perry dispensed with the secrecy so beloved by his brothers on the bench and released Casagrande’s court file to the media. Within the pages of documentation lay a complete transcript of the Redfern interview – and the details it provided were beyond belief. Not only did she detail every moment of the murder, Casagrande also painted a picture of Lillecrapp – whom she always referred to as ‘Joanne’ or ‘her’ – quite unlike that given by his family, friends and the police.


‘I’ve been going to Joanne’s on and off for years, and she’s been coming up to my family’s place for years,’ Casagrande had told the homicide detectives on 11 November. ‘Joanne dobs people into Social Security … she’s very spiteful. The last summer I was there, I stole her camera and, when I got down there this time, she asked me where it was. I told her that I sold it for heroin in Melbourne. I told her I would get her a new one, and I wanted to leave that day but she locked me in the house and I couldn’t get out.’


Later that day, she said, her lover made a discovery. ‘Nicole went into Joanne’s bedroom and found a piece of paper from the Footscray CIB in Melbourne. That’s where I had sold the camera at. She showed it to me.’ The women were convinced Lillecrapp intended to turn them over to interstate police because of the camera theft. Knowing he still had $600 of Casagrande’s money in the account he had created for them, the women hatched a plot to get it back and then leave Adelaide for good. ‘Nicole cooked Joanne dinner and she put a couple of Rivotril in her dinner … they’re epilepsy tablets,’ she said. The highly potent anti-convulsant has powerful muscle-relaxing properties, but also induces drowsiness and impairs the memory. The lovers felt it to be their best tool against someone larger, stronger and healthier than the two of them put together.


‘I went out to Joanne and said “You haven’t changed at all, you’re still the same”,’ Casagrande continued. ‘I said “I’ll buy you a new camera” and Nicole kept waving the paper in her face and saying “Well, what’s this, what’s this?” And Joanne said yes, she was going to ring up (the police) but she hadn’t.’


The argument escalated. ‘I asked Joanne for my money out of the bank, which I was saving up for my son,’ Casagrande said. ‘Nicole went into the kitchen and got a stay-sharp blade – you know the ones, the ones with the white handles. She came back into the lounge room and said to Joanne “Just give us our money, and we’ll go”.’ Casagrande insisted the knife was for Nicole’s own protection – Lillecrapp was far bigger and stronger than the women. She claimed they feared he would attack them. ‘I don’t know what happened – Joanne must have thought it was a bluff or something – but it didn’t work. So it got a bit more heavy and I flipped out, I said “I just want my money, my son’s money, and I’ll go”. I kept telling her I’d buy her another camera.’


Tempers flared out of control and things turned deadly. Casagrande pushed the weakened Lillecrapp onto the lounge room floor. ‘I was holding her saying “Why, why, why?”’ she said. ‘I just straddled her. Nicole was in the background saying “You lying cunt”, and I had my knees on Joanne’s arms.’


Unwilling to sit on the sidelines any longer, McGuinness attacked Lillecrapp. ‘She had the knife,’ Casagrande insisted. ‘Nicole sat up on top of her and started punching her. She still had the knife in her hand and she was saying to her “Just give us the money and we’ll go, you know how much it means to Donna’s son”. She said to her “Give us the fucking money, Joanne, or you’re going to die today. If you don’t give it to us, and let us go, I’m going to kill you”. And Joanna wouldn’t – she still wouldn’t give it back. I don’t think she ever had any intention of giving us our money back in the first place.’


Lillecrapp began to fight back. When he couldn’t shift McGuinness with the force of his bulk alone he panicked and began to scream. Casagrande punched him in the face, breaking his nose. ‘We were yelling and screaming,’ she said. ‘And then, because she was screaming, Nicole put a pillow over her face and told her to shut up,’ Casagrande remembered. ‘She said, “Just give us the PIN and we’ll go get the money, I’ll go get the money, Donna can go get the money. Then we’ll leave, and everything will be all right”.’ Lillecrapp still would not cooperate and so McGuinness threw the pillow aside and began to slap him. Keeping the knife tight in her other hand, she struck repeatedly with her palm, knuckles and fingernails, cutting and scratching her victim’s face. ‘After a little bit longer of being slapped around a bit, Joanne gave us the number,’ Casagrande said.


Leaving McGuinness and Lillecrapp behind, the junkie took her benefactor’s four-wheel drive to a pub on Hanson Rd, Arndale. Hands shaking, she tried the PIN. It didn’t work. She tried it several times, her anger increasing, before giving up and returning to Norton St. ‘I was pissed off,’ she admitted. ‘When I got back to the house, Nicole was still straddling Joanne, with the knife in her hand and the pillow over her face. And Joanne had four stab wounds in her, right in her temple. They weren’t deep.’


McGuinness was infuriated, she said, enraged that they had been tricked – and she was no longer prepared to play games. ‘Nicole said, “See? I told you, you stupid bitch, that you weren’t going to give Donna the right number! I knew it, I knew she was going to come back and tell me it wasn’t the right number! I knew you were lying, I knew you wouldn’t give us the PIN, money means more to you than anything!” Nicole was holding the knife up against her throat and Joanne tried to get up.’


Casagrande paused in her retelling, swallowed, and put her head in her hands. Her words began to blur together. ‘Then just bang, she stabbed Joanne straight through the heart,’ she babbled. ‘Nicole put the knife straight through her chest, one through her heart, and four times in her stomach. There was blood coming out of Joanne’s mouth. Joanne reached out and grabbed my hand. I held onto it. And then it was too late.’


One of the detectives asked if Casagrande had tried to stop her lover’s murderous actions. She admitted she had not. ‘I was angry,’ she said, ‘and I was scared. Then Nicole looked at me, smiled and said, “I can’t believe that money can mean more to someone than their own life”.’


Casagrande said she began to panic, even though McGuinness ‘was pretty calm, actually’. Together they dragged Lillecrapp’s body into the bathroom. It was Casagrande’s idea. ‘The blood wouldn’t go,’ she said. ‘There were pools of blood everywhere. I washed a bit off but I just … just kept … ’ Her retelling broke down. ‘Blood and all,’ she muttered. ‘Trails of blood everywhere.’


Composing herself, she continued the story. They had wrapped Lillecrapp’s body in a blanket and dragged him out into the backyard and onto the grass. His weight, combined with their poor health and addiction-ravaged muscles, made it impossible to lift Lillecrapp. ‘I tried to put her into the four-wheel drive but she was too heavy. We had to get some ropes, tie her up and try to pull her over the grass to the car. And she still wouldn’t move! There was no way of getting her into the car, she was too heavy! So Nicole went and got the tool box, because there was an axe inside it, and a hacksaw.’


The stomach-turning series of events that followed would forever immortalise the names of McGuinness – who was still carrying the knife – and Casagrande in Adelaide’s rogues’ gallery of hideous criminals. ‘Nicole kneeled down next to them and looked at the hacksaw, but she said it was too blunt. So then she cut through Joanne’s skin with the stay-sharp knife. Then she picked up the axe and chopped off Joanne’s head with it. We put that in a bucket.’


The detectives stopped Casagrande, asking whose idea it was to dismember Lillecrapp. ‘Mine,’ she said, almost too softly for the tape to record. ‘Then Nicole said “let me do it”, because I was crying too much.’


Casagrande appeared, to the detectives, to be completely disconnected from reality. She was lost in her story, but spoke as if someone else had perpetrated the disgusting act of human butchery. ‘We still couldn’t pick Joanne up, she was too big,’ she went on. ‘So then both of her arms had to come off. And after that she was still too heavy, and so big. We tried to lift her and, when that didn’t work, both her legs came off, at the groin, so it was just a torso left. The worst bit was the torso … she was so fat. Anyway, I got the stay-sharp knife and cut all the fat off Joanne’s stomach, and we wrapped her back in the blanket.’


Their bloody work complete, their composure returned, the women became calculating. McGuinness and Casagrande first buried Lillecrapp’s stomach and body fat in his prized strawberry patch. Then they wrapped his arms and legs in garbage bags and put them, with the head in a bucket and the blanket-shrouded torso, in the four-wheel drive. They headed to a lake ‘about 100 kilometres’ from the city. ‘Nicole was saying something about putting something heavy on Joanne and putting her in the water, so she wouldn’t float,’ she explained. The plan went awry when they discovered the lake was a popular fishing spot, already bustling with activity.


Casagrande said they drove into the Adelaide Hills and buried the legs and knife near the Mount Lofty Botanical Gardens. The detectives wanted to know why the women did not bury the body in one location. ‘It probably would have been easier,’ Casagrande replied, as if realising it for the first time, ‘but I thought that, if they found a torso, then maybe they wouldn’t know who it was.’


Once Lillecrapp’s torso had been safely dumped on a beach at Port Parham, the lovers made their way back to the city. ‘We went and bought some petrol and put that in the bucket with her head and arms,’ Casagrande said. ‘It was about 4 litres of petrol. Nicole took us to this factory at Wingfield, and she went inside. She put the bucket with the head in it in this incinerator, and the arms too, and Nicole was yelling out “Hurry up, hurry up before someone comes!” I ran over to the gate and threw her a lighter. She threw all the petrol in, and about twenty newspapers in there as well, and then lit it up.’ She shuddered. ‘I keep dreaming about it. Picking her head up by the hair, putting her head in the bucket.’


After that, Casagrande said, the couple ‘just drove home’. ‘I knew, straight away, we were going to get caught,’ she admitted wryly. ‘I knew it, and I couldn’t stop crying. Nicole gave me some pills so I could sleep. Then, early on the Thursday, we packed our stuff in the four-wheel drive.’ Their getaway plan was foiled by, of all things, a minor car accident. They decided to dump the vehicle and hitchhike their way to Sydney. Though she had no way of knowing for sure that the police were looking for her, Casagrande was pessimistic enough to believe capture was inevitable and a confession might help her score her next fix. She made a triple-zero phone call from a payphone and tried to convince the call centre to swap her confession for drugs. When that failed, she went to the police herself. And, with her sins revealed, she was not happy to learn methadone was not part of the deal.


‘I wanted to go get my methadone, I should have gone and got my methadone but I’ve been trying to build up the courage to do this,’ she screamed at the detectives as her addiction savaged her body. ‘This is bullshit, this is fucking bullshit! You fucking promised me methadone! I don’t have to fucking do this! I’m trying to do the right thing – I came in here to tell the truth, not get fucked around! I’ve got two kids that I’ll frigging never probably see again after this, and all I want is my methadone!’


The truth had, at long last, been revealed. It came as cold comfort to Ron and Lindsay Lillecrapp. Under South Australian law, victims of crime are given an opportunity, during sentencing submissions, to tell both the court and the criminal how they have been affected by the offences in a victim impact statement. Ron and Lindsay had expected to begin the healing process on 1 July 2003 by delivering their victim impact statements and hearing the sentencing submissions for both accused. Only one of those things was to happen. David Stokes, for McGuinness, informed the court he had only just received the results of his client’s psychological testing. She also had yet to sign the all-important statement of agreed facts asked for by Justice Perry. ‘I’m not in a position to make submissions today for that reason,’ Mr Stokes said.


Craig Caldicott, for Casagrande, also had concerns. ‘In respect of the victim impact statements, my client hasn’t had an opportunity to see them,’ he said. ‘I was handed them as I entered the courtroom this morning. There are portions of the statements which express opinions from the person which are clearly at odds with the plea that has been entered by Ms Casagrande.’


Mr Caldicott is a renowned and highly regarded member of the bar in South Australia. Until that day, however, no one knew he had a gift for understatement. His comment, as it turned out, was actually more of a warning to which Justice Perry should have given due consideration. He did not, however, and ordered the statements be read.


Casagrande and McGuinness sat, close together and silent, as Lindsay Lillecrapp read her statement to the court. Overwhelmed with emotion, she broke down and cried after just a few sentences. ‘Being here today is something I never thought I would have to face in my lifetime,’ she continued, ‘but I feel compelled to speak up today. Over the past 18 months I have experienced a multitude of emotions, from great sadness to absolute horror. For a member of your family to die in such an unspeakable manner goes beyond anybody’s reasoning. I frequently think about Joanne’s last thoughts, the terror and absolute betrayal of these two women and the heinous crime they inflicted on Joanne that terrible night.’


Gathering her strength, Lindsay looked up from her notes and glared at the killers. Casagrande began to shake. McGuinness placed a consoling hand on her lover’s knee. ‘No human being deserves that kind of death – to be drugged, wounded, killed and then dismembered by two women committing this crime for money,’ Lindsay went on. ‘We, the family, have listened to the facts and the horrors of this crime. We have remained silent. We have even been glared at, had faces pulled at us by the defendants. I myself have never seen one sign of remorse from these two women, and it chills me to the bone.’


Casagrande was fading, ruined by guilt, accusations and heroin withdrawal. She would have much more to endure before the hearing was over. ‘Donna presents herself as the less guilty one because she did not stab Joanne,’ Lindsay said, staring unblinkingly at Casagrande. ‘She participated in drugging Joanne, then she dismembered the body and helped hide the body parts. Her part in this hideous crime deserves to be recognised as horrific, and should be dealt with severely.


‘These two women have turned my life, and that of Joanne’s family, upside down. The grief and loss they have caused can never be forgiven. The only thing that can help myself and Joanne’s family today is that justice is done, and these two women are punished and imprisoned for a very, very long time.’


Ron Lillecrapp locked eyes with his wife briefly, as they passed one another in the gallery. He strode to the podium in a way that suggested power beneath the pain. A tall, strong-looking man – not as large as his brother, but stocky nonetheless – his body language practically shouted that he would not be broken by Casagrande and McGuinness. Twice had he lost his brother to these women – once when the family ruptured, and again when Joanne was murdered. No more would he bottle up his pain. Unlike his wife’s measured tones, Ron spoke with venom and volume, and his chin jutted defiantly at the killers as he verbally tore them apart.


‘I first met Donna Casagrande in early 1996,’ he began. ‘John, my brother, had brought her to our house for tea. She abused that privilege by shooting up drugs in the driveway in the presence of my wife and parents.’


Casagrande flushed red, and would be silent no longer. ‘I did not,’ she shrieked hysterically, stunning those in the courtroom.


‘She poisoned John’s mind,’ Ron continued, refusing to be interrupted. ‘After that night they made demanding threats to us. They said they would trash the place if we didn’t give them money.’


‘You liar, you liar,’ Casagrande howled. ‘You’re a bloody liar!’


‘You know I’m not,’ Ron shot back, glowering.


‘That is a plain lie,’ Casagrande yelled again. ‘You said you hated him!’


Mr Caldicott’s fears had come to pass. Justice Perry moved quickly to regain control of his courtroom. ‘I’ll have to put you out of court if you say any more,’ he told Casagrande, firmly but not unkindly. ‘You just have to sit.’


Casagrande did. McGuinness was waiting for her. She pulled her lover into her arms, lowered her head onto her shoulder and began stroking her hair. Her murderous eyes remained fixed on Ron Lillecrapp, as if daring him to say another word against the woman she adored.


Ron did that, and more. ‘John was naive and gullible and they played on that as much as they could until a time when he said “enough is enough”,’ he growled. ‘It was okay for them to steal from him but, when he said “no” they killed him. Butchered him grotesquely. That is, in my opinion, premeditated. I see you both equally guilty of the murder and I feel that at no time in these proceedings have I seen any remorse expressed.’ He said they deserved more of a punishment than any court could impose – for stealing not only Joanne’s possessions and links to his family, but also his remaining years.


‘He didn’t have you, his family, did he?’ McGuinness spat.


‘I suggest you have no feelings, considering you could butcher a person,’ Ron replied darkly. ‘I cannot imagine how anyone could mentally be able to commit that crime, let alone physically. He tried to help both you women get off drugs. He gave you the same credit he gave others in the community – his time and his energy to help you.’


Casagrande pushed away from McGuinness, rose to her feet and strained against the glass walls of the dock. ‘He sold me as a prostitute, that’s what he did,’ she screamed, bringing the old rumour back to life. ‘He sold my body, that’s what he did!’


Justice Perry had had enough. ‘Mr Caldicott, I’ll have to put your client out of court,’ he said, signalling for the sheriff’s officers to take her to the cells. ‘There is no way of maintaining the dignity of the court.’ Casagrande was removed, still crying and yelling at Ron Lillecrapp.


He took a deep breath and went on, now directing all his pain toward McGuinness. He answered her earlier accusation and admitted he had not always been close to his brother. ‘I feel angry and cheated,’ he said. ‘I will always have to wonder what our relationship as brothers might have eventuated into. I have lost a brother that I could turn to if I needed to.’ His voice broke. ‘I lost him long before you two murdered him,’ he said quietly.


‘Yes,’ McGuinness hissed.


Her contempt energised Ron. ‘You totally shafted him, you stole from him, you killed him and I am so angry for that it is very hard to express,’ he raged. ‘There’s a quote from the Bible – an eye for an eye. A lot of the time when I think about this, I feel it should be a life for a life!’


‘Do it,’ McGuinness yelled, standing up and leaning toward the glass. ‘Do it, do it!’


‘You’re both guilty of murder,’ Ron said, disgusted. ‘The worst kind – the kind that scares the whole community, not just my family. The whole population knows what you have done and what you’re capable of. They have been reminded that ruthless people like you still exist.’
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